GOD KEEPS COVENANT

A Thirty-Day Study on God's Love for Israel
Wendy D. Beckett

GOD KEEPS COVENANT

A Thirty-Day Study on God's Love for Israel By Wendy D. Beckett

"Reading Wendy Beckett's thirty-day devotional *God Keeps Covenant* has blessed me greatly. Each day contains an important message and an unmistakable call for the Body of Christ. It is a treasure of excellent teaching derived straight from the Bible where God's heart of love for His people is revealed and how we, the church, fit into His plan of Israel's restoration. I highly recommend this devotional to anyone who has a love for God and a desire to discover the richness of His covenant promises."

Markus Ernst

Past Chairman of the Board, Operation Exodus, Ebenezer Emergency Fund

"The Jewish people occupy a unique place and play out a 'pivotal' role in the unfolding redemptive purposes of God in the earth. Unfortunately, multitudes of devoted Christians have never explored or been taught to understand and appreciate the hundreds of scriptures referencing God's ongoing Covenantal regard for Israel, His chosen people.

This 30-day devotional by Wendy Beckett is an excellent introduction, refresher course, and graduate seminar all rolled into one. It reflects the heart of God Himself, and the heart of one who has engaged these truths in serious study, intercessory prayer and works of mercy over many years. As you read and grow in your understanding of God's unending love for Israel, you will also better comprehend His measureless love for you and yours!"

Gary P. Bergel

Past President, Intercessors for America

"I found this book to be a prayerfully written thirty-day journey revealing a majestic covenant-keeping God who through ISRAEL has given us Proof of His eternal love.

May we all take this journey and by faith have a greater sense of awe and assurance that we serve this great covenant-keeping God who bought us with His own blood."

Sally N. Fesperman

Cofounder of Christian Training Center, Franklin NC; Derek Prince Ministry board member; Youth Counselor

God Keeps Covenant

A Thirty-Day Study on God's Love for Israel

For ease of readability, I have quoted from the New International Version (NIV) of the Bible, except in a few cases that I have noted as follows:

NKJV – New King James Version CJB – Complete Jewish Bible

The emphasis in **bold font** is my choice.

Copyright regulations for the NIV require the use of the lower case for pronouns referring to the Lord. However, out of reverence to the Lord and because this is a devotional, I have used upper case, such as "You," "Him," and "His," in the prayers and wherever else possible.

Endnotes are at the back of the book. All other permissions granted.

Copyright Information:

God Keeps Covenant

ISBN: 1-59975-930-6

Copyright © 2006 Wendy D. Beckett

Published 2006, Fourth Printing

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing from the publisher, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical articles or reviews.

All scripture quotations, unless otherwise indicated, are taken from the HOLY BIBLE, NEW INTERNATIONAL VERSION®. NIV®. Copyright 1973, 1978, 1984 by International Bible Society. Used by permission of Zondervan. All rights reserved.

Scripture quotations marked "NKJVTM" are taken from the New King James Version®. Copyright © 1982 by Thomas Nelson, Inc. Used by permission. All rights reserved.

Scripture quotations are taken from the *Complete Jewish Bible*, copyright © 1998 by David H. Stern. Published by Jewish New Testament Publications, Inc. www.messianicjewish.net/jntp. Distributed by Messianic Jewish Resources. www.messianicjewish.net. All rights reserved. Used by permission.

Jacket illustration by: Paul Clark & Sharon Raymond

Book design by: Aespire ® {aespire.com}

To the Lord, Jesus, or Messiah and King

To John, my beloved husband and best friend

To our precious family

To the Church and the Jewish people, whom the Lord loves so dearly

{ CONTENTS }

God Keeps Covenant A Thirty-Day Study on God's Love for Israel

Introduction to God Keeps Covenant7
Day 1: A Love Story9
Day 2: A Forever Covenant
Day 3: The Land is Integral to the Covenant
Day 4: Engraved on the Palms of His Hands
Day 5: A Look into History
Day 6: Christians Who Cared
Day 7: World War II and the Holocaust
Day 8: The Time to Favor Zion
Day 9: Can a Nation be Born in a Day?
Day 10: They Will Rebuild
Day 11: The Lord's Purposes on the Earth
Day 12: Aliyah31
Day 13: Prepare the Way
Day 14: God Has Called the Gentiles to Help
Day 15: From the Ends of the Earth I Called You
Day 16: With All My Heart and Soul
Day 17: Not Leaving Any Behind
Day 18: A Banner for the Nations
Day 19: Gathered, Then Forgiven
Day 20: Promises of Forgiveness and Transformation

Day 21: I Will No Longer Hide My Face	49
Day 22: Life from the Dead	51
Day 23: Hear the Word of the Lord. O Nations	53
Day 24: Who Is on the Lord's Side?	55
Day 25: May We Be Like Ruth	57
Day 26: Days of Grace	59
Day 27: That Great Day	61
Day 28: More Promises to Be Fulfilled	63
Day 29: Jerusalem, City of the Great King	65
Day 30: God Will Glorify His Great Name	67

INTRODUCTION

"Maybe that's what the prophets meant!" my mother mused aloud one morning in May of 1948. She and I were making beds as she was considering the significance of the newly formed State of Israel. I was nine years old, growing up in Toronto, Canada, where I already had many Jewish friends. Although I didn't realize it until much later, the Lord would use that single comment by my mother to propel me into a keen interest in what God was doing with the Jewish people and the State of Israel in our day. As I read the Bible I found myself taking words like "Israel," "Zion," or "Jerusalem" literally, as well as seeing them figuratively for individual Christians and the Church as a whole.

So began a lifelong pursuit to understand this vital topic. I would never have dreamed as a child that decades later, my husband John and I would become immersed in activities supporting this aspect of God's agenda, including a massive effort to bring Jewish people out of the former Soviet Union back to Israel.

So why this devotional?

There are so many questions among Christians today concerning the Lord's relationship with the Jewish people. What about the Holocaust? Why did God allow such atrocities if the Jews are still His chosen people? What is the Lord's view of the modern State of Israel? Why is much of the Church silent on this whole issue?

Early in the Christian era, opinions hardened on the way God regarded the Jewish people. Negative attitudes toward them developed almost immediately after the apostles' deaths and have held sway throughout most of Christian history.

So I am inviting you to explore this topic with me. My emphasis will be to unfold Scriptures that shed light on God's longstanding devotion to the Jewish people. This study will involve a short daily reading for 30 days.

Many Scriptures give us insight into the Lord's attitude toward those He has called "My people." In fact I've cited more than a hundred. These Scriptures – from both the Old and New Testaments – have not gone out of date. They apply today to Jew and Gentile alike.

In this devotional, I am not presenting a theological argument but telling a love story. The Father in heaven has chosen a people for Himself for purposes that are still not fully complete.

As we find with any specific passages of Scripture, some seem logical, but many require the Lord's light to shine on them. I encourage you to read these Scriptures **slowly and prayerfully**, allowing the depth of their meaning to penetrate deeply into your heart. I trust you'll find, as I have, the enormity of God's love toward these people He has called His own.

Day 1 A LOVE STORY

"His love endures forever." (Psalm 118:2)

"...give thanks to the Lord for his unfailing love." (Psalm 107:8, 15, 21, 31)

"The Lord your God has chosen you ... to be his people, his treasured possession...because the Lord loved you." (Deuteronomy 7:6 & 8)

From the first pages of Genesis, we see the holy, just and righteous God wanting fellowship with human beings. In fact, He created them for that purpose. He delighted in their company in the cool of the day. Then, by preferring their own way to His, they lost that close companionship.

There were exceptions. Genesis chapters 5 & 6 record that Enoch and Noah walked with God. But after the flood and before Noah's death, mankind had already returned to violent, evil ways.

Then the Lord set His focus on Abraham, Isaac and Jacob as well as the nation that grew out of this family. We watch this love story unfold throughout the rest of the Old Testament. In the passage above from Deuteronomy, the Lord was assuring the people of Israel of **His** "unfailing love" for them. He spoke to Israel at times as a father but even more often as a lover and husband longing for them to return the love He felt for them.

When God found a tender heart like David's, He expressed with immense delight, "I have found David...a man after my own heart." (Acts 13:22) He even exclaimed to Israel, "I will sing for the one I love." (Isaiah 5:1)

When the Queen of Sheba visited Solomon, God's love for His people was so evident to her, she asserted, "Because of the Lord's eternal love for Israel..." (1 Kings 10:9)

Even when Israel turned away from the Lord, His love for her remained. Hear His tender, deep lament in Hosea 11:8, "How can I give you up...?"

The heavenly Father calls His Hebrew people, "My beloved," (Jeremiah 11:15) and "the one I love." (Jeremiah 12:7) He declares, "You are precious... in my sight...I love you," (Isaiah 43:4) "my unfailing love for you will not be shaken." (Isaiah 54:10)

The love of the **Lord Jesus** for **His people, Israel**, is never more poignant than on the day of His triumphal entry into Jerusalem. "As he approached… the city, he wept over it and said, 'If you, even you, had only known on this day what would bring you peace." (Luke 19:41 & 42)

Even though the apostle Paul was sent to the Gentiles, the Lord gave him such a love for "his brothers...the people of Israel" that he states he could wish himself cut off from the Lord if it would mean that they would come to Him. (Romans 9:3)

Lord, we thank You for such extraordinary and eternal love for this people, Israel. We do not understand all the reasons why You chose to set Your love on a particular people but we trust You, our just, wise and faithful God. Your plan is perfect! You will reveal to us what You want us to know.

DAY 2 A FOREVER COVENANT

"I will establish my covenant as an **everlasting covenant** between me and you and your descendants after you for the generations to come." (Genesis 17:7)

In ancient times, a covenant was the most binding contract one could make with another – far more serious than anything we can understand today. Modern society has nothing that comes close to its equivalent. The possibility of breaking covenant was unthinkable.

In the passage above, Almighty God Himself was making a covenant with Abraham that was to last forever. He renewed that everlasting covenant with Isaac, (Genesis 26:3 & 4) and then with Jacob. (Genesis 28:13-15) By the Lord's sovereign choice, He was setting His attention on a man, Abraham, and specific descendants of his, Isaac and Jacob, and their posterity.

In this age of egalitarianism, the Lord's Sovereign choice is a difficult concept. Perhaps it helps to look at this choice as a difference in function. God was calling Israel – the name first given to Jacob and by extension, to his descendants – to a specific purpose in history. In the midst of a totally pagan world that had no remembrance of the one, true God, He injected Himself into the life of a man and his family to make a covenant with them that was designed to go on forever, in order to accomplish His will on the earth.

The word "forever" is used numerous times throughout Genesis and other Scriptures regarding this covenant. In spite of Israel's rebellion, the Lord declared in Judges 2:1, "I will never break my covenant with you."

In Psalm 89:34 the Lord vowed: "I will not violate my covenant or alter what my lips have uttered."

King David reminded his nation the day he brought the Ark of the Covenant back to Jerusalem: "He (the Lord) remembers his covenant forever, the word he commanded to a thousand generations." (Psalms 105:8 & I Chronicles 16:15)

In light of these declarations by the Lord God, can we doubt that He will keep His covenant with His ancient people? "God is not a man, that he should lie." (Numbers 23:19) If the Lord does not keep Covenant with Israel, what assurance do we Christians have that He will be faithful to us, the Church?

Lord, we're at Day 2 in this study, and we're already being stretched as we try to grasp these challenging concepts. We acknowledge that we need Your help. Speak to our hearts so that we can understand this special covenant relationship You have with Your ancient people, Israel.

May we know that Your keeping covenant with them is visible proof that You will also keep covenant with the Church You bought with Your own blood.

DAY 3 THE LAND IS INTEGRAL TO THE COVENANT

"The Lord said to Abram '...look north and south, east and west. All the **land** that you see I will give to you and your offspring **forever**.'" (Genesis 13:14 & 15)

Without smog, Abraham could see a very long way from the mountains of Israel! In the Genesis 17 passage we studied on Day 2, the Lord continues in v.8, "The whole land of Canaan, where you are now an alien, I will give as an everlasting possession to you."

This is confirmed to Jacob. "I am God Almighty...The land I gave to Abraham and Isaac I also give to you, and...to your descendants." (Genesis 35:12)

The book of Deuteronomy describes the Lord's comments and final instructions before Israel entered the land after their forty years of wandering in the desert. The Lord is very forthright: "It is not because of your righteousness or your integrity that you are going in to take possession of their land;" (Deuteronomy 9:5) in fact, He says in chapter 31:21, "I know what they are disposed to do, even before I bring them into the land I promised them on oath."

We know from history that Israel rebelled against God until finally He sent them into exile. The first exile was for seventy years to Babylon, and the second has lasted for almost 2,000 years – beginning 40 years after Jesus wept over them and warned them of what was coming.

But even before they entered the land the first time, Moses' words to them provide us with a glimpse of the Lord's future plan.

"When all these blessings and curses (see Deuteronomy 28 & 29) come upon you...wherever the Lord your God disperses you among the nations, and when you and your children return to the Lord...God will...have compassion on you and gather you again from all the nations. ...God... will bring you to the land that belonged to your fathers, and you will take possession of it." (Deuteronomy 30:1-5)

.

This covenant is not void! It is indeed forever! And it includes the land, a portion of which we again see in Israel's possession today.

Have all those Israelis who are now back in the land "returned to the Lord"? (Deuteronomy 30:2) No. But many have. Others are coming to Him as they settle in their ancient towns and cities. Congregations are springing up everywhere, and Israeli friends tell us that there are now more followers of Yeshua (Jesus) in the land than there have been since the first century AD.

There are also many godly Orthodox Jews who trust in the God of Abraham, Isaac and Jacob with all their hearts, who are waiting for Messiah to be revealed.

.....

Lord, we join the many Jewish people in the land who are praying these words of David: "Oh, that salvation for Israel would come out of Zion! When God restores the fortunes of his people, let Jacob rejoice and Israel be glad!" (Psalm 53:6)

DAY 4 ENGRAVED ON THE PALMS OF HIS HANDS

"For the Lord comforts his people and will have compassion on his afflicted ones.
But Zion said, 'the Lord has forsaken me...'
Can a mother forget the baby at her breast and have no compassion on the child she has borne?
Though she may forget,
I will not forget you!
See, I have engraved you on the palms of my hands." (Isaiah 49:13-16)

I remember a tense moment in a gathering of Christians and Jews just before the movie, "The Passion of the Christ," was released. The question was asked, "Did the Jews put Jesus on the cross?" Every eye was riveted on the speaker. "No!" he said. "Our sins put Jesus on the cross!" Oh! If only the Church had given such an answer down through its history!

So many Christians through the centuries have believed not only that the Jews were responsible for Jesus' death but also that God has utterly forsaken them. These Christians think the Church has completely taken the place of the Jewish people as the "Chosen" of God. The history of most of the last 2,000 years would seem to support their belief.

However, we have examined the Lord's promises that **His love** and **His Covenant** are **forever**. Does "forever" not apply as well to the last two millennia? Perhaps the following Scriptures give us a clue.

```
"For a brief moment I abandoned you, (Remember 1,000 years is as a day) but with deep compassion I will bring you back.
...I hid my face from you for a moment,
But with everlasting kindness I will have compassion on you." (Isaiah 54: 7& 8)
```

[&]quot;No longer will they call you Deserted, or name your land Desolate. ...for the Lord will take delight in you." (Isaiah 62:4)

"I will plant her for myself in the land; I will show my love to the one I called 'Not my loved one.' I will say to those called 'Not my people,' 'You are my people'; and they will say, 'You are my God.'" (Hosea 2:23)

Paul asks the believers in Rome who were struggling with anti-Jewish emotions: "Did God reject his people? ... Did they stumble so as to fall beyond recovery?"

"Not at all!" comes his resounding answer. (Romans 11:1&11)

Lord, thank you that You have not forgotten or rejected Your ancient people. You are a faithful God who keeps Covenant and loves unconditionally. Thank You that You are again showing Your compassion to the Jewish people. Help us to love those whom You love – **those who are** "engraved on the palms of (Your) hands."

DAY 5 A LOOK INTO HISTORY

"...do not boast... Do not be arrogant." (Romans 11:18 & 20)

A devotional may seem to be a strange place to discuss history. Sadly however, many in the Church today have no idea how much persecution has been inflicted on the Jewish people in the name of Christ. So our key Scripture for today is Paul's warning resounding down through the centuries to all who will hear: "*Do not be arrogant*." Regrettably, many have ignored Paul's plea.

The apostles were scarcely in their graves when key leaders in the early church began turning against the Jews. By the time Christianity became accepted throughout the Roman Empire, every vestige of Jewishness had been erased from the Church. Jewish people who became Christians were forbidden to keep Saturday as the Sabbath, or to celebrate the feasts commanded by the Lord through Moses.

Expulsion, forced conversion and violence mar the pages of the history of Christian Europe as the separation between Christian and Jew continued to widen. Even many of the holiest and most respected church fathers were virulently anti-Semitic. (1)

The Crusades, between 1000 and 1200 AD, became an excuse to eradicate as many Jews as possible as fanatic knights and their followers rampaged through cities and towns on their way to the Holy Land. Once in Jerusalem, these men, convinced they were doing God's will, slaughtered Jews as well as Muslims until the blood literally ran through the streets.

In Europe in the late 1200s, a story circulated widely that Jews were kidnapping Christian children, slaughtering them, drinking their blood and using it to make their Passover bread. Untold thousands of Jewish people lost their lives in the ensuing centuries because

of this preposterous lie. These accusations continued in Eastern Europe well into the last century and still surface today in Muslim countries. How difficult this is to comprehend!

Down through the centuries, persecutions and mass expulsions took place in England, France, Spain, Russia and Eastern Europe. Between 1440 and 1808, 30,000 Jews were burned at the stake in Spain and thousands more in Portugal and Mexico.

Even Martin Luther (1500s) in his later years joined the ranks of those who vilified the Jews and desired their destruction. It has been said that Luther's angry outbursts against them helped Hitler justify his purges and death camps.

It is estimated that in the centuries **before** the Holocaust 7,000,000 Jewish people were slaughtered by those confessing to be Christians. Then during World War II another 6,000,000 were annihilated.

Where was the Lord in all those centuries of suffering? I believe He was weeping with His people. "In all their affliction He was afflicted." (Isaiah 63:9 NKJV) He was also weeping over His Church. He had left such clear instructions to love.

Lord, what horrors You have looked upon! Our hearts break that Paul's warning was not heeded and that the Jewish people have had to suffer so intensely for so long! Cleanse us, Your Church, from any remaining arrogance.

DAY 6 CHRISTIANS WHO CARED

"Comfort, comfort **my** people, says your God." (Isaiah 40:1)

Dr. Michael Brown has written a powerful book entitled <u>Our Hands Are Stained with Blood</u> – <u>The Tragic Story of the "Church" and the Jewish People</u>. In the midst of recounting the horrific mistreatment of Jews, Dr. Brown gives us a wonderful chapter entitled, "A Blessed and Beautiful Stream," in which he acquaints the reader with a few of those who have stood out in history against this tide of anti-Semitic evil.

Of course many of these believers were the quiet ones who remained in obscurity. They were those who cried out to God in prayer for the Jewish people or who performed secret acts of kindness despite the personal danger. We know that many of these "righteous Gentiles," (as the Jewish people call Christians who care for them) gave their lives to save Jews during the Holocaust. Corrie ten Boom's family is one of the best-known examples (as depicted in the book and movie, <u>The Hiding Place</u>.)

Interestingly, many of the Puritans who shaped early America had a vision for Israel and held the hope that the Jewish people would return to their land and their Lord. Perhaps one of the reasons God has so blessed America has been the fact that many times through the years we have opened our arms to Jewish people fleeing the persecutions of Europe.

Samuel Rutherford, a famous Scottish Puritan, had a deep love for the Lord and His ancient people. I love this description from one of his letters quoted in Dr. Brown's book:

O to see the sight, next to Christ's Coming in the clouds, the most joyful! Our elder brother the Jews and Christ fall upon one another's neck... They have been long asunder; ... O longed-for and lovely day-dawn! ...let me see that sight which will be as life from the dead, Thee and Thy ancient people in mutual embraces.(2)

In the early 1800s, the London Jews Society was formed. This organization encouraged Jews to immigrate to Israel and also established the first Protestant Jewish Church there. They opened schools and a hospital. The result was that, for the first time in 1,700 years, there were known to be Jewish people in Israel who came to believe in Jesus as the Messiah. During the intense persecutions in Russia in the 1880s, the London Jews Society helped the first Russian immigrants "home" to Israel.

Even Queen Victoria, who reigned on the British throne for more than 50 years in the last half of the 1800s, strongly supported a homeland for the Jewish people.

In today's Scripture from Isaiah, whom is the Lord addressing? Could it be that He is actually stirring all of us in the Church to "comfort" **His** chosen people? I believe so!

Thank You, Lord, that You have always had a faithful remnant in the Church who has understood Your great heart of love for Your covenant people. Thank You that down through the centuries there have been those who have heeded Paul's warnings and have blessed the Jews. May there be more and more Christians who are inspired to "comfort" with an unconditional love, these dear people who have suffered so much.

DAY 7 WORLD WAR II AND THE HOLOCAUST

"You who call on the Lord, give yourselves no rest, and give him no rest (pray continually) till he establishes Jerusalem and makes her the praise of the earth." (Isaiah 62:6 & 7)

In the summer of 2004, as I walked for the first time through Yad Vashem, the Holocaust Memorial in Jerusalem, what struck me most deeply was the Jewish suffering **after** World War II. My heart was broken not only by the gas chambers and crematoriums (which I had known about) but also by the post-war holding camps in Cyprus and northern Europe, where conditions were not much better than at Auschwitz. I wept as I thought of the survivors of the Holocaust finally landing in Haifa, Israel, only to be sent back to the holding camps because of anti-Semitic regulations.

But I don't intend here to dwell on the horrors. If you have seen "Schindler's List," "Playing for Time" or "The Pianist," you know very well the appalling scenes from the Warsaw ghetto and the death camps.

Instead, let us zero in on a small Bible College in Wales where nightly, powerful prayer meetings were occurring during the war. Rees Howells, an intercessor God had groomed with great care, would take time by himself to wait on the Lord for the prayer strategy for a particular evening.

Once he had heard the Lord's direction, he would join others already in prayer and together they would go into deep intercession – perhaps for hours – until they sensed they had "broken through" and the Lord had achieved what He desired. Often within days the news would report a victory the Allies had needed to press on to defeat the evil Nazi regime – exactly as they had prayed.

O yes, there were prayer gatherings everywhere as the world writhed convulsively during those awful years between 1939-1945. Finally those regimes fell, and the senseless murder ceased for those whose only crime was that they were Jewish.

Can we ever answer the question "Why?" In today's world, innocent people, children, and babies are being murdered almost daily by terrorists. We all wrestle with why evil has to be so powerful. The answers will come when we see the Lord face to face.

Then, we will have the kind of history lesson those two disciples had on the road to Emmaus on Resurrection Day when the Lord Jesus brought His gruesome death and the prophetic Word together for them. (Luke 24) Until that day, I have to trust my Lord. In His Sovereignty, the Lord had to allow the Holocaust. The outcome was a homeland for the Jewish people – the restored nation of Israel. He used the incredible tragedy for His purposes.

To return to our opening Scripture, we see that intercessors **did** call on the Lord and gave themselves and Him no rest during those terrible years. Through the horrors, the Lord somehow caused His Will to be done to bring closer the Day He "establishes Jerusalem and makes her the praise of the earth."

Father, again we have to acknowledge that Your ways are not our ways. (Isaiah 55:8) We can only declare that You are Sovereign over all the earth. You know what You are doing as You bring about Your will and Your purposes in preparation for that great Day!

DAY 8 THE TIME TO FAVOR ZION

"But You, O Lord, sit enthroned forever; ... You will arise and have compassion on Zion, for it is time to show favor to her; the appointed time has come." (Psalm 102:12 & 13)

I will never forget the gathering in the large cafeteria of a major industrial company in Cleveland, Ohio. Derek Prince was addressing two thousand eager listeners. The year was 1971 – twenty-three years after the formation of the state of Israel. The air was electric as we heard this renowned Bible teacher expound on how this verse related to Israel's birth as a nation.

Profound questions were being addressed: Had 1948 been a turning point in history? One of the Lord's "suddenlies"? An appointed time that had escaped the world's attention, but to the Lord was of great importance? Was He showing favor to His people, Israel, today in the midst of our modern world?

We knew the new nation had been created, but here was Scriptural insight into what the Lord thought of the event. I was in awe as my mind flashed back to mother's words: "Maybe that's what the prophets meant!"

The following two Scriptures give us further insights into this "appointed time." Jesus, in His prophetic description of the history we have just studied, tells us: "Jerusalem will be trampled on by the Gentiles until the times of the Gentiles are fulfilled." (Luke 21:24) Paul echoes this: "Israel has experienced a hardening in part until the full number of the Gentiles has come in." (Romans 11:25)

With Israel's birth, a seismic shift occurred in the heavenly realm and in the world. And many – even much of the Church with its rich depository of Scriptural truth – missed it.

How comparable to the way the world missed our Savior's birth, which was ushered in by the great angelic pronouncement. The sky was ablaze with heavenly light for the Bethlehem shepherds. And the sleeping world yawned.

So it was also with Israel's inception as a nation. Few understood or were even aware of God's dramatic invasion into history. But the process had begun. For indeed, the "Lord hears the needy and does not despise his captive people. ...for God will save Zion and rebuild the cities of Judah." (Psalm 69:33 & 35) And that is exactly what has been happening since 1948.

Father, please help us all in Your Church to see the significance of the wondrous accomplishment that You brought forth from the ashes of the Holocaust. You were true to Your Covenant and again gave Your people their land. You have had "compassion on Zion" and shown her favor at "the appointed time," just as You promised! You are revealing the continuation of Your love story.

Day 9 CAN A NATION BE BORN IN A DAY?

"Who has ever heard of such a thing?
...Can a country be born in a day
or a nation be brought forth in a moment?
Yet no sooner is Zion in labor
than she gives birth to her children.
Do I bring to the moment of birth
and not give delivery?" says the Lord. (Isaiah 66: 8 & 9)

Let's return briefly to the Bible College in Wales. In 1947, a number of the young students there sensed the Lord asking them to temporarily lay down their missionary calls and stay to intercede for the birth of the State of Israel. "We pleaded," wrote Rees Howells in his diary, "that because of His **covenant** with Abraham 4,000 years ago, God would take His people back to their land, and Palestine (3) should again become a Jewish State."(4)

On the day of the mandatory United Nations' vote to allow Israel's status as a sovereign nation, there was much prayer. The first vote did not pass. The college intercessors went back into more intense prayer and believed they saw "God's angels influencing those men in the United Nations Conference to work on behalf of God's people." The next day the news came of the needed two-thirds majority. The college proclaimed November 28, 1947, "one of the greatest days for the Holy Spirit in the history of these 2,000 years." (5)

Fighting continued for the next five months between the Arab nations and the Jewish people. However in May 1948, the Jewish council in Jerusalem signed Israel's Declaration of Independence. Modern Israel was "born in a day."

In less than 24 hours, seven Arab countries declared war against this new state. Miraculously this fledgling, ill-equipped nation was victorious. Even after she was attacked again in1967, her forces prevailed and broke through to the Western Wall – all that was left of the Old Temple. At that moment all of Jerusalem came back into Jewish hands for the first time since they were exiled to Babylon 600 years before Christ. (6)

Another attack against Israel occurred in 1973 on Yom Kippur, the Day of Atonement. Syria and Egypt chose the holiest day in the Jewish calendar when almost everyone in Israel fasts, for a massive attack. Israeli soldiers rushed to the Golan and fought for several days without a meal. For some unknown reason, Syrian tanks suddenly stopped dead in their tracks, and her army became confused. There were also reports of people seeing a large Hand in the sky over the Golan Heights, east of the Sea of Galilee. Many Israelis believe that God directly intervened and helped them survive the worst of their wars.

God is again protecting His people as He reestablishes them in their land. "He who scattered Israel will gather them and will watch over his flock like a shepherd.' For the Lord will ransom Jacob and redeem them from the hand of those stronger than they." (Jeremiah 31:10 & 11)

Faithful God, thank You that You did "bring to the moment of birth" and You did give delivery. Thank You that You have protected Israel in the ensuing wars. We will "Rejoice with Jerusalem and be glad for her." (Isaiah 66:10)

DAY 10 THEY WILL REBUILD

"I will bring back my exiled people Israel;
they will rebuild the ruined cities and live in them.
They will plant vineyards and drink their wine;
they will make gardens and eat their fruit.
I will plant Israel in their own land,
never again to be uprooted from the land I have given them,"
says the Lord your God. (Amos 9:14 & 15)

The transformation of the land of Israel from mosquito-infested swamps and barren desert to productive farms, vineyards and orchards is amazing. The Lord has blessed Israelis' hard work. One indication is the jet stream, which actually shifted so that some of the former desert land has regular rain again.

Millions of trees have been planted on the barren slopes – many by Christians. Each visit my husband and I make to Israel we see Isaiah 51:3 becoming more of a reality. The Lord "will make her deserts like Eden, her wastelands like the garden of the Lord."

For many years now, Israeli jets have departed nightly full of fruit and flowers for the tables of Europe – a direct fulfillment of Isaiah 27:6, "In days to come Jacob will take root, Israel will bud and blossom and fill all the world with fruit." Even in the grocery stores of America we can now purchase Israeli fresh produce.

In the Negev desert, exceptional olive orchards and vineyards are developing using brackish water pumped from thousands of feet below ground.

"They...will renew the ruined cities that have been devastated for generations." (Isaiah 61:4) The rebuilding has been intense throughout the years of Israel's existence. Their ability to absorb and house new immigrants is astounding. Their rebuilt cities are clean and orderly.

Never before in history has a dead language been revived. Yet in Israel today, Hebrew is spoken everywhere and immigrants are required to attend Hebrew classes upon arrival.

Never before has a nation, which was dispersed into many countries, remained intact as a distinct people. Ethnic groups have always been absorbed after a few generations. Yet the Lord has kept Israel as a nation even in her long exile.

The Lord has remembered **His covenant** and **His everlasting love** for His nation. The time to favor Zion has come.

Gracious Father, You have looked down on this people throughout the generations and yearned for this time when You could again pour out Your blessings upon them. Thank You for all that is being fulfilled and all that will yet happen in order to complete Your great plan of Redemption for Israel and all peoples.

DAY 11 THE LORD'S PURPOSES ON THE EARTH

"For Adonai (the Lord) will fulfill his word on the earth with certainty and without delay." (Romans 9:28, Complete Jewish Bible)

After studying the history of the Jewish people and before we move on to more recent events, let us step back to look at the big picture of the Lord's priorities. How is He fulfilling His Word "on the earth with certainty and without delay"?

First, the Gospel is spreading across the face of the earth at a staggering pace. Bible translators are now using advanced computer technology to speed their vital work. The Internet is making the Gospel available to millions previously without access to its message. Thousands are daily risking their lives to obey the Lord's command to "go and make disciples of all nations." (Matthew 28:19)

Also in His discourse with His disciples concerning the time of His return, the Lord Jesus gave these same marching orders: "And this Gospel of the Kingdom will be preached in the whole world as a testimony to all nations, and then the end shall come."
(Matthew 24:14)

We read John's vision in Revelation 7:9 of the "great multitude that no one could count, from every nation, tribe, people and language, standing before the throne and in front of the Lamb." And we are stirred to pray harder, give more and go where the Lord sends us that the maximum number of people may come into His Kingdom.

Another of the Lord's priorities is His Church, whom He loves so passionately that He calls her His Bride. Much of the emphasis in the letters of Paul, Peter and John is on teaching the followers of Jesus how to grow up in Him, turn from worldly ways, walk with Him and love others as He did. We are to be "without stain or wrinkle or any other blemish, but holy and blameless." (Ephesians 5:27)

The Lord Jesus is at the right hand of the Father interceding for us that we, His Bride, will make ourselves ready for His coming. (Revelation 19:7) He will help us but **we** must prepare. We must continually walk more closely with Him, our beloved Bridegroom.

Almost obscured from the Church's view is a third priority – a distinct stream flowing through the Scriptures – the return of the Jews to their land and their restoration to their Lord. This stream is an integral part of the river of God's great purposes on the earth. For most of the past 2,000 years this priority has been flowing underground. But this stream is bursting forth as a powerful reality in our day to take its rightful place in the Church.

My desire in this devotional is to set before you just a portion of the tremendous weight of evidence in the Scriptures that the physical and spiritual restoration of Israel is absolutely essential in the Lord's big picture. His Word cannot be fulfilled on the earth without the promises in the Old Testament Prophets concerning Israel coming to pass.

Father of Love, please keep revealing to us Your heart in this matter. We know You will have to open our eyes so we can see how Israel fits into Your amazing plans for the end of the age and Your return.

DAY 12 ALIYAH

"This is what Cyrus king of Persia says: '...Anyone of His people among you – may the Lord his God be with him and **let him go up**.'" (II Chronicles 36:23)

"Aliyah" is a Hebrew word that literally means "to go up" or "ascend." In the passage above, King Cyrus was giving his blessing to Jewish people who wished to return or "go up" to rebuild Jerusalem and other areas of Israel after their 70 years of captivity in Babylon.

There are approximately 70 passages in the Bible that refer to the return of the Jewish people to their land. Some verses specify that it will be "in the latter days." Other Scriptures speak of this migration coming from every corner of the earth. In many places the Lord declares explicitly and emphatically, "I will bring you back."

When Israel became a nation in 1948 and the restrictions on immigration were finally lifted, Jews who had survived the ravages of the Holocaust poured into their "Promised Land" from countries across Europe.

In addition, they fled from all the surrounding Arab countries, including 47,000 Jews from Yemen. From Morocco 170,000 returned, and 14,000 came from Algeria. There were 104,000 Jews who literally had to be smuggled "home" out of Iraq. Between 1948 and 1955, the Jewish population in Israel doubled.

Almost 30,000 have been rescued from tyrannical regimes in Ethiopia. In one weekend in the early 1990s, 14,400 were taken home on Israeli El-Al commercial airliners just 36 hours before the Ethiopian airport was attacked and closed by advancing Marxist rebels. At one point there were 24 jumbo jets without seats (to carry maximum capacity) ferrying back and forth from Ethiopia to Israel to complete the rescue.

Surely this was one of the fulfillments of Isaiah 60:8. "Who are these that fly along like clouds, like doves to their nests?" What an accurate description of a return home by airplane – 2,600 years before the advent of air travel!

Israel has welcomed her people home from every corner of the earth since 1948. Their assimilation into Israeli society has been remarkable considering all the cultural and language differences that challenge the new arrivals.

The Lord is working out His promises to Jewish people before our very eyes. And we have yet to see the greatest and most glorious aspects of what He will do. Jeremiah describes an aliyah yet to come that will overshadow the great Exodus out of Egypt.

"However, the days are coming," declares the Lord, "when men will no longer say 'As surely as the Lord lives, who brought the Israelites out of Egypt,' but they will say, 'As surely as the Lord lives, who brought the Israelites up out of the land of the north and out of all the countries where he had banished them.' For I will restore them to the land I gave their forefathers." (Jeremiah 16:14 & 15)

Thank You, Lord God of Abraham, Isaac and Jacob, for fulfilling Your promises to Israel's forefathers that their descendants would return to the land You gave them. We believe that You will never forget what You have spoken until all is fulfilled. We give You glory for Your faithfulness!

DAY 13 PREPARE THE WAY

"Build up, build up, prepare the road! Remove the obstacles out of the way of my people." (Isaiah 57:14)

The focus of our study on Day 12 was how the Lord worked miracles to fulfill His word and bring home thousands from Europe and the countries surrounding Israel. What about the more than 2,000,000 Jewish people who were virtual prisoners of the communist system in all the countries of the Soviet Empire? A small number were allowed to emigrate each year, but many were being watched and imprisoned without cause.

In 1985, a group of international prayer leaders gathered in Jerusalem for a major prayer conference that was convened to intercede specifically for the release of the Soviet Jews. The Lord had been preparing the hearts of some of the men, and during the gathering, they agreed to take a prayer journey behind the Iron Curtain.

What followed was amazing. Skirting the Russian KGB, these intercessors prayed powerful prayers for the release of Soviet Jews in front of the Kremlin, the statues of Lenin and even the headquarters of the KGB itself.

They traveled to Odessa in the Ukraine, to the famous Potemkin stairs, which lead from the port up an embankment into the city. Invaders through the centuries scaled those stairs as their point of entry. The most recent had been the Nazis bent on conquering the Ukraine and destroying the large Jewish population of the country. The intercessors descended the long stairs – praying again for the Jews' release as they went. As they turned at the bottom to ascend the stairs, they almost bumped into the KGB agents who were following closely behind them, trying to figure out what these odd tourists were doing.

Suddenly, cracks in the Iron Curtain began to appear. In front of the Berlin Wall in June 1987, President Reagan announced, "This wall will fall." And yes, down it came and ruthless regimes toppled. The peoples held captive by communism had their first taste of freedom! The Lord had heard the prayers of those intercessors as well as the worldwide prayer that had ascended to His throne during the 70 years of Soviet domination.

As a result, in 1990 alone, more than 185,000 Jewish people left the former Soviet Union for Israel. In 2002 that number reached 1,000,000 immigrants (in 12 years), helping to fulfill Isaiah 49:25 (NKJV)

"Even the captives of the mighty shall be taken away,
And the prey of the terrible be delivered." (How terrible the communist massacres were)

Look at how specifically the Scriptures apply to the aliyah (return) from Russia, the land whose capital, Moscow, is directly north of Israel.

```
"I (the Lord) will say to the north, 'Give them up!'" (Isaiah 43:6)
```

So yes, "the obstacles" are being removed and there is a highway for "my people" to go home from "the land of the north."

Lord, what a privilege to be alive in a day when Your Word is being fulfilled before our eyes. Thank You for all those who have been faithful to pray! May Your Jewish people still in the "land of the north" return to their homeland!

[&]quot;See, I will bring them from the land of the north." (Jeremiah 31:8)

[&]quot;'Come! Come! Flee from the land of the north,' declares the Lord." (Zechariah 2:6)

DAY 14 GOD HAS CALLED THE GENTILES TO HELP

"This is what the Sovereign Lord says: **See I will beckon to the Gentiles,**...they will bring your sons in their arms
and carry your daughters on their shoulders." (Isaiah 49:22)

As the doors of the former Soviet Union opened in the early 1990s, those who had made the prayer journeys, and other Christian leaders recognized the above Scripture as a mandate to **Gentile** believers to be involved in assisting the Soviet Jews "home." A number of Christian groups began making help available across the former Soviet Union.

Gustav Scheller, the founder of Operation Exodus, (Ebenezer Emergency Fund) believed God was calling him to use a ship as well as airplanes to help Jewish people "home." After much prayer and intensive negotiation with the Ukrainian and Israeli governments, a shipping route opened. In 1991, a ship began carrying Jewish families and Holocaust survivors from the port of Odessa in the Ukraine, across the Black Sea, through the Bosporus, under the bridges of Istanbul, and past the Greek islands into the Mediterranean Sea to Haifa, Israel.

Isaiah 60:9 speaks of "the ships of Tarshish (or trading ships), bringing your sons from afar, with their silver and their gold, to the honor of the Lord your God, the Holy One of Israel."

I remember the time in 1996 when my husband, our daughter and I had the privilege of accompanying these dear Jewish people as they made aliyah on the ship. When they first arrived at the base camp in Odessa, some of them mistrusted those of us who were trying to help. (I don't blame them – after all their parents and ancestors had endured at the hands of Christians.) But after a few days at sea together, we couldn't stroll the decks without being hugged and thanked for helping them to immigrate to Israel. Many of these

Jews had the sense they were being drawn home. Some of them stated that it was definitely the God of Israel who was compelling them to return.

There were 172 sailings between 1991 and 2004. The Lord protected those journeys from stormy seas, from intransigent bureaucrats, from unlit fishing boats directly in the ship's path and from many other dangers.

When helping Jewish people return by air, Operation Exodus and other groups work together with the Jewish Agency. This Israeli based organization, established to assist immigration, charters airline flights from the major cities across western Russia, Siberia and the Russian Far East. Western volunteers work closely with Russian Christians to help Jewish people find documents that prove they are Jewish. Often any trace of their Jewishness has been destroyed during the years of persecution. But the Lord is working miracles to help them find their documents in far-away archives, receive visas from Israeli consuls, and be transported by the volunteers long distances to the nearest airport.

Whether returning by ship or air, at the moment of landing in Israel, the new arrivals experience such a sense of joy and completeness. They know they are finally "home."

Lord, we're so glad that You are having "compassion on Jacob; once again (You are choosing Israel and settling) them in their own land." (Isaiah 14:1) How wonderful that Gentile believers from so many nations are supporting them and escorting them home!

DAY 15 FROM THE ENDS OF THE EARTH I CALLED YOU

"In that day the Lord will reach out his hand a second time to reclaim the remnant that is left of his people...

He ... will assemble the scattered people of Judah from the four quarters of the earth." (Isaiah 11:11 & 12)

There are few places on Earth much farther from Jerusalem than Siberia and the Far East of Russia. It was to those isolated places that the Communist dictators sent the political prisoners – many of whom were Jewish. Tens of thousands died as they built railroads and highways and worked in mines. On the Russian Chinese border is a city called Birobidzhan, which Stalin cruelly named the "New Jerusalem" for the Jews.

In a town many time zones east of Moscow, Ian, a volunteer in his late sixties from New Zealand, plodded through deep snow and biting cold to visit the Jewish people. His mission was to share Scriptures with them to show them that the time had come to "go home."

As hundreds of volunteers, young and old, from many nations have served throughout the former Soviet Union, they have witnessed amazing changes in the attitudes of the Jewish people. Many are unreceptive at first, but often as the volunteers read Scriptures to them from their ancient prophets, God's Word melts their hearts, and they decide to make preparation for their long journey to their new home.

Tears of joy welled up in my eyes in May 2004, as I stood in the Operation Exodus head office for the Far East of Russia. There before me was a large wall covered with photos of all the families, the young and the old, who had made aliyah in the last 12 years. What a moving sight – those dear faces!

These remote regions have also been the focus for aliyah-related work for the International Christian Embassy, Jerusalem. One of the areas where they work is above the Arctic Circle, where mines established during the Stalin era are now being closed and towns depopulated. From there, Christian volunteers help Jewish people on a route that takes them through Finland to Israel.

I have heard numerous stories from these remote regions of the Lord's supernatural help for the valiant volunteers out in the Siberian winter. In one case, two of these young people arrived at the top of a mountain pass only to find the road completely blocked with mounds of drifting snow. At that very moment, on that deserted road, two large trucks passed and blasted through the snow piles. The volunteers' car was then able to continue to another isolated village to search for and help more Jewish people.

"But you, O Israel, my servant,
Jacob whom I have chosen,
You descendants of Abraham, my friend,
I took you from the ends of the earth,
from its farthest corners I called you.
...I have chosen you and not rejected you.
So do not fear, for I am with you;
do not be dismayed, for I am your God." (Isaiah 41:8-10)

Yes, Lord, thank You that no place on Earth is too remote for You to find Your people. You scattered them, but now You are bringing them "home." Please continue to guide your servants to them. Please raise up many more intercessors to pray for this great work!

DAY 16 WITH ALL MY HEART AND SOUL

"I will surely gather them from all the lands where I banish them ...and will assuredly plant them in this land with all my heart and soul." (Jeremiah 32:37 & 41)

If we take a moment to consider the Lord's incredibly great **heart of Love**, is it any wonder that He is once again demonstrating this love toward His chosen people? Or even that He would press into service Gentile believers, whose ancestors could well have been among those who persecuted so mercilessly down the centuries? Would He not invite His Gentile Church to "*speak tenderly to Jerusalem*"? (Isaiah 40:2)

Throughout the former Soviet Union, we surely do see the Lord actively working, "with all (His) heart and soul," to gather the Jewish people and plant them in their land. He is tenderly yet deliberately making a way where there seems to be none. Documents that were feared destroyed or lost, are amazingly found. Adamant customs officials unexpectedly relent, allowing families to emigrate. Homes in Israel become available for the aged. Families who had lost all hope that a brother or sister had survived, are reunited. Those who are sick, and even those given up for dead, are transported "home" to experience cutting-edge Israeli medical technology – and they recover.

The greatest demonstration of the Lord's intense engagement is the way He is touching Jewish hearts. Imagine the transformation, when Jewish people who once refused to listen to the Scriptures on aliyah, decide to sell their possessions and begin the process of immigration – taking all their worldly goods in a few suitcases. Only the Lord can convince these dear people to take such risks and start life all over again. It is nothing short of a miracle!

Let me tell you my favorite story involving the Lord's care on one of the voyages, as the ship carried His people home. During this particular sailing, the seas were exceptionally rough. Almost everyone was seasick. The Ebenezer staff and volunteers gathered to pray. On the second day, they became aware of the Lord's miraculous answer. The raging storm did not abate, but the ship seemed to be gliding smoothly in the midst of the high seas for the rest of the journey to the port of Haifa. The seasickness passed. The ship's crew was amazed. Everyone became intensely aware that the Lord was there in their midst – "with all (His) heart and soul."

What a fulfillment of Isaiah 43:16!

"This is what the Lord says – he who made a way through the sea, a path through the mighty waters." ("raging waves" – CJB)

Jeremiah 31:9 is equally relevant at this moment in history.

"They will come with weeping; they will pray as I bring them back. I will lead them...on a level path where they will not stumble, because I am Israel's father."

We are indeed seeing the amazing beginning of that mighty work God said He will accomplish "with all my heart and soul."

O Lord, our hearts are so full of joy as we blend our voices with Isaiah 49:13: "Shout for joy, O heavens; rejoice O earth; burst into song, O mountains! For the Lord comforts his people and will have compassion on his afflicted ones." – "with all (His) heart and soul!"

DAY 17 NOT LEAVING ANY BEHIND

"Then they will know that I am the Lord their God, for though I sent them into exile among the nations, I will gather them to their own land, **not leaving any behind**." (Ezekiel 39:28)

"...and you, O Israelites, will be gathered up one by one." (Isaiah 27:12)

A young Jewish orphan was found homeless at a Ukrainian railway station. He was cared for until a family in Israel could be found to adopt him. Forty Israeli families responded to the newspaper ad, and soon he was on his way "home" – "gathered up one by one."

Yes, just as in the first Exodus, the Lord is leading entire extended families out of captivity. In this case, the captivity isn't slavery. It's extreme poverty.

A single mother and her five children lived in such dire conditions in the Ukraine that the children routinely knocked on apartment doors to beg for food. The only pieces of furniture in their little, mud-floor apartment were two beds and a wardrobe. I never would have guessed the extent of their hardships when I met this smiling family on the ship bound for Israel. But this kind of destitution is common throughout the former Soviet Union.

There are instances where families with as many as 65 members immigrate together. Sometimes all the Jews from a synagogue will make aliyah. How that must please the heart of the Father!

Aliyah is beginning in other countries as well. In 2005, Israel opened its doors to a group from India – Jews who believe they belong to the ancient tribe of Manasseh. Later that same year, Jews living in transit camps in Ethiopia were again able to return at the rate of 600 a month – until all remaining 20,000 Ethiopian Jews are "gathered" home.

Studies since 1995 have shown that there are hundreds of thousands who may not even know they are Jewish in Latin America. Their identity has been hidden or lost because of persecution. They are beginning to learn of their Jewish roots. Some are preparing to

make aliyah.

We do not know the Lord's timetable for gathering all the Jewish people back to the land.

We do know that He will fulfill His Word exactly as He has promised.

In the 1700s, John Wesley wrote a hymn expressing the biblical truths we are studying in

this devotional. One of the verses emphasizes Christians helping their Jewish brethren –

"not leaving any behind."

O that the chosen band

Might now their brethren bring,

And, gathered out of every land,

Present to Zion's King!

Of all the ancient race

Not one be left behind

But each, impelled by secret grace,

His way to Canaan (7) find.

Yes, Lord, may none be left behind!

Personal reflection:

42

DAY 18 A BANNER FOR THE NATIONS

"He will raise (or hoist) a banner for the nations and gather the exiles of Israel;" (Isaiah 11:12)

"I will set a sign among them, (all nations and languages) ... They will proclaim my glory among the nations. And they will bring all your brothers (or kinsmen) from all the nations, to my holy mountain in Jerusalem as an offering to the Lord." (Isaiah 66:19 & 20)

Down through history, a banner, an ensign or flag hoisted on a pole has been a means of making an important announcement. A king's ensign always flies over the place where he is in residence. The raising of a national flag announces victory for an army or a nation. The Lord expects the same kind of attention to be given when **He sets up a sign**.

"All you inhabitants of the world, you who live on the earth: when **a banner** is hoisted on the mountains, **look**!" (Isaiah 18:3 CJB)

In the first two verses cited above, aliyah is spoken of as a sign of great significance. So many times throughout the book of Ezekiel and the other Prophets, the Lord clearly announces the purpose of all He is doing in bringing His people back to the land. The "banner" is raised in order that Israel and "the nations will know that I am the Lord." (Ezekiel 36:23) This is His reason!

Here is an example of how this banner impacted one life. A Chinese intellectual actually came to faith in Jesus as he read the Old Testament Scriptures. He saw how accurately the biblical prophecies are being fulfilled in our day concerning the rebirth of Israel. He

marveled that the preservation of the Jews as a distinct people is without precedent in history. Aliyah and the restoration of Israel are signs to those who will "look."

Thus we are indeed seeing the Lord draw attention to His purposes as He continues to show favor to Zion. The greatest aliyah is yet to come. It will be not only from areas where Jewish people are living in extreme hardship, not only from countries such as France and the United Kingdom where anti-Semitism is quickly intensifying, but also from the rest of Europe, Australia, South Africa, China and the whole Western Hemisphere. They will come from every nation on the earth where they have been living. "A highway will be there" (Isaiah 35:8) for the Lord's people to go "home." The nations will no longer be able to ignore this "banner."

Father, we pray that You will help Your Church and yes, even the nations, see this "banner" and pay attention to this ensign signaling this great work that You are about in our day. Truly, "You have given a banner to those who fear you, that it may be displayed because of the truth." (Psalm 60:4 NKJV)

DAY 19 GATHERED, THEN TRANSFORMED

"For I will take you from among the nations; gather you out of all the countries and bring you into your own land.

Then I will sprinkle clean water on you and you shall be clean;

I will cleanse you from all your filthiness and from all your idols.

I will give you a new heart and put a new spirit within you;

I will take the heart of stone out of your flesh and give you a heart of flesh.

I will put My Spirit within you." (Ezekiel 36:24-27, NKJV)

Many Scriptures echo and confirm this passage from Ezekiel – that the Lord's regathering of His people and His "cleansing" of them is a two-step process. For the majority of Jewish people, the cleansing will occur after they have been gathered back to their land.

Yes, throughout the world today, Jews are coming to Jesus. They are experiencing His forgiveness and cleansing. Messianic congregations are springing up in many nations as well as in Israel. They are the first fruits – the promise of more to come.

We are witnessing an outworking of the Lord's purposes at this moment in history that will include the fulfillment of all the Scriptures that promise forgiveness and cleansing throughout the nation of Israel.

Let us look at a few more passages to see again the Lord's great heart for this people He loves with an everlasting love. His desire is to forgive them.

"I have seen their (rebellious) ways, and I will heal them;
I will lead them and give comfort to them." (Isaiah 57:18 CJB)

Consider this promise from the famous chapter of the valley of dry bones, Ezekiel 37. v. 23 "I will save them from all their sinful backsliding, and I will cleanse them.

They will be my people and **I** will be their God." v. 28 "'Then the nations will know that I the Lord make Israel holy, when my sanctuary (or home) is among them forever."

Notice all the "I wills" in the Scriptures we are studying today. God intends to move in a visible and sovereign way. The result will be that the Gentile nations will be so aware of His forgiveness for Israel that they will have to acknowledge His Lordship.

Sovereign Lord, we bow before Your throne as we catch glimpses in the Scriptures we are studying of Your plan to gather, forgive and cleanse Your Jewish people. How amazing You are and how all-encompassing are Your purposes on the earth!

Personal reflection:

At this point I would like to make an additional comment about a wonderful extra benefit for the Church. When Jewish people accept Jesus as their Messiah and walk with Him, there is often a great depth in their understanding of the Gospel and the Word of God. The Church has made the Christian faith very Gentile. Jewish believers bring us a whole new Scriptural perspective because of their deeper understanding of the Old Testament and how it applies to the New. The Bride of Christ will not be complete without our Jewish brothers and sisters.

DAY 20 PROMISES OF FORGIVENESS AND WASHING

"I will pardon all their sins through which they offended and rebelled against me." (Jeremiah 33:8, CJB)

This topic of the Lord's cleansing and forgiveness of the nation of Israel is so vital that we need to examine a number of additional Scriptures describing His intent. There are so many promises. Romans 11:26 & 27 states that God's forgiveness of His Jewish people is part of His covenant with them.

"The Deliverer will come from Zion; he will turn godlessness from Jacob. (Israel) And this is my covenant with them when I take away their sins."

Here are other Scriptures from the prophets, Jeremiah, Zechariah, Joel and Micah.

"...they (Israel) will **all** know me from the least of them to the greatest;' declares the Lord. 'For **I** will forgive their wickedness and remember their sins no more.'" (Jeremiah 31:34)

"On that day a fountain will be opened to the house of David and the inhabitants of Jerusalem, to cleanse them from sin and impurity." (Zechariah 13:1)

"Judah will be inhabited forever and Jerusalem through all generations. Their bloodguilt, which I have not pardoned, I will pardon." (Joel 3:20 & 21)

"Who is a God like you, who pardons sin and forgives the transgression of the remnant of his inheritance? You do not stay angry forever but delight to show mercy. You will again have compassion on us; you will tread our sins underfoot And hurl all our iniquities into the depths of the sea. You will be true to Jacob, And show mercy to Abraham, as you pledged on oath (the covenant) to our fathers in days long ago." (Micah 7:18-20)

This last passage from Micah is bursting with God's love, His mercy, His forgiveness and His faithfulness to keep covenant. How revealing are all these Scriptures for us as Christians – adding to our understanding of the greatness of His forgiveness for us!

Lord, when we see the magnitude of Your forgiveness – we cry out in awe,

"Who... is like you, O Lord? Who is like you – majestic in holiness, awesome in glory, working wonders?" (Exodus 15:11)

"The Lord, the Lord, the compassionate and gracious God, slow to anger, abounding in love and faithfulness, maintaining love to thousands, and forgiving wickedness, rebellion and sin." (Exodus 34:6 & 7)

DAY 21 I WILL NO LONGER HIDE MY FACE

"I will no longer hide My face from them, for I will pour out My Spirit on the house of Israel, declares the Sovereign Lord." (Ezekiel 39:29)

Even before we heard Derek Prince speak in Cleveland in 1971(described on Day 8), my husband and I had been growing spiritually through his teachings. Derek focused on the Word and poured out his life to preach the Gospel, to help Christians grow in their faith and to bring greater understanding of God's heart for Israel. Over the 30 years of our friendship with Derek, we observed a wonderful consistency in his life. He "walked the talk."

So I bring you the following words from Derek Prince with great confidence that what he related in this experience is authentic and reliable:

"One night I awoke at 2:00 a.m. with a strange sense of excitement. As I lay there wondering why I should be so excited, I heard from the heavenly realm, 'You're excited because all heaven is excited and you are sharing their excitement.'

Why should all heaven be excited?

"...All heaven is excited because Jesus is excited..."

Why is Jesus excited?

'Jesus is excited... because He is about to be reconciled with His brothers and sisters – the Jewish people.'

"I thought about Joseph, how he was rejected by his own brothers, sold as a slave into Egypt and there lost his Jewish identity. To his brothers Joseph no longer existed. "Yet after many years of separation – without any contact between them – God brought Joseph's brothers to Egypt to seek food. At this time Joseph dressed like an Egyptian and spoke Egyptian. He communicated with his brothers in Egyptian through an interpreter.

"They had no inkling who he was. Eventually, Joseph made himself known directly to his brothers. And he wept aloud, and the Egyptians and the house of Pharaoh heard it.

"Today, for the Jewish people, Jesus has lost His Jewish identity. Grudgingly, they acknowledge Him as the 'Gentile Messiah.' **Yet all heaven awaits in awed excitement the moment fast approaching when Jesus will reveal Himself directly and personally to His Jewish brothers and sisters**. As this has become real to me, I share heaven's excitement!" (8) (My emphasis added)

Lord Jesus, we are so grateful for this word you gave Derek. It helps make "that moment fast approaching" more real. We do want to share Your excitement in this event. We want to have Your attitude toward those to whom we owe so much of our faith. We want to love them as You do.

DAY 22 LIFE FROM THE DEAD

"But if their transgression means riches for the world, and their loss means riches for the Gentiles, how much greater riches will their fullness bring!" For if their rejection is the reconciliation of the world, what will their acceptance be but life from the dead?" (Romans 11:12 & 15)

Much has been written on the vital eleventh chapter of Romans (including books mentioned in the booklist at the end of this study.) However, we will focus on just a few of Paul's amazing statements in this chapter as he looks ahead to the day when "the Gentile world enters in its fullness; and ... all Israel will be saved." (Romans 11:25 & 26 CJB)

We cannot fully comprehend the meaning of phrases like "all Israel will be saved" or "life from the dead." But we do know that there is a **time of glory** coming – a time of great illumination – as Jesus reveals Himself to the Jewish people and they are "grafted (back) into their own olive tree." (Romans 11:24)

This image of the olive tree represents the Jewish, biblical root of our faith. Paul states that the Jews (the branches) were temporarily cut off from their "olive tree" by their rejection of Jesus as Messiah. The Gentiles were grafted in from a "wild olive tree" to this Jewish base of our faith. The writers of the Old Testament were Jewish, and Jesus Himself was Jewish, as were all of the New Testament writers with the possible exception of Luke and Titus. We Gentiles must not boast! (Romans 11:18)

Let's look at two of the concluding paragraphs of <u>Our Hands Are Stained with Blood</u> as Dr. Brown marvels at these amazing Scriptures that we are highlighting.

"Today there are men and women across the globe who are children of the living God, the spiritual seed of Abraham, joint-heirs with the Messiah, recipients of eternal life, blood-washed, Spirit-filled, consecrated saints *as a result of Israel's transgression*. **How much greater riches will Israel's fullness bring!**

"At this very moment, a continuous stream of praise ascends to heaven in more than 2,500 languages, and angels shout for joy as sinners repent worldwide *as a result of Israel's loss*. **How much greater riches will Israel's fullness bring!**" (9)

Lord, we cannot even comprehend why You have chosen to bring Your purposes to pass in this way. We can only echo Paul's words as he extols Your greatness:

"Oh, the depth of the riches of the wisdom and knowledge of God! How unsearchable his judgments, and his paths beyond tracing out! Who has known the mind of the Lord? Or who has been his counselor? Who has ever given to God, that God should repay him? For from him and through him and to him are all things. To him be the glory forever! Amen. (Romans 11:33-36)

DAY 23 HEAR THE WORD OF THE LORD, O NATIONS (Jeremiah 31:10)

```
"Come near, you nations, and listen;
pay attention, you peoples!
Let the earth hear, and all that is in it,
...The Lord is angry with all nations;
...For the Lord has a day of vengeance,
a year of retribution, to uphold Zion's cause. (Isaiah 34:1, 2 & 8)
```

In earlier studies, we have seen that the restoration of Israel is "a sign" to the nations. Today we will see that the Lord goes even further in His call to the nations of the earth to listen and pay heed to what He is planning.

```
"This is the plan determined for the whole world; this is the hand stretched out over all nations. For the Lord Almighty has purposed, and who can thwart him? His hand is stretched out and who can turn it back?"

"The Lord has established Zion, and in her (Zion) his afflicted people will find refuge." (Isaiah 14:26, 27 & 32)
```

In today's world, we do not yet see Zion as a place of complete refuge and safety. That is still coming. It is promised!

But we do see here a master plan that will not be thwarted by even the most rebellious nation. The Lord has purposed to establish Zion and restore the Jewish people to their covenant land. He has set a plumb line in our midst. The nations are required by God Almighty to make a choice to either align with His purposes or suffer the consequences.

Before the tsunami that swept across the Indian Ocean in late 2004, a Japanese American Christian wrote a book, <u>God's Tsunami – Understanding Israel and End-time Prophecy</u>. In it the author, Peter Tsukahira, declares:

"God is not frustrated by human brutality or the cynicism of modern politics. His purposes are still being accomplished in spite of rampant terrorism. He is using tiny Israel to draw a "line in the sand" and draw all peoples into a valley of decision.... He is requiring the world to make a decision regarding who He is and what He has said in His Word, the Bible. As in the days of old Israel is again God's instrument, His lever to shake the nations...the modern evidence of God's covenant faithfulness." (10)

Lord, we tremble for the nations, as we read the Word that states:

"In those days and at that time, when I restore the fortunes of Judah and Jerusalem, I will gather all nations and bring them down to the valley of Jehoshaphat. (meaning God judges) There I will enter into judgment against them concerning my inheritance, my people Israel, for they (the nations) scattered my people ...and divided up my land!" (Joel 3:1 & 2)

Have mercy on our nations, Lord, and help us stand with Your people, Israel. May our commitment not diminish even when Israelis make unwise decisions, even when they still reject the One we hold most dear. We stand with them **for Your Word's sake**.

DAY 24 WHO IS ON THE LORD'S SIDE?

"For whoever touches (or injures) you touches the apple (or pupil) of His eye." (Zechariah 2:8)

A pastor of an Israeli assembly tells the following story of an amazing change of heart. One night during the 1967 war between Israel and Egypt, an Egyptian soldier was wandering alone in the desert when he saw a light coming toward him. He realized Jesus was revealing Himself. His life was instantly transformed, and soon he became a pastor. But because of bitterness toward Israel, he would not read the Old Testament. In the Yom Kippur War of 1973, he again fought in the Egyptian army against Israel. One day the Lord spoke to him saying: "If you don't love My people Israel, you don't love Me." Forgiven by the Lord and forgiving the Jews, this Egyptian is now teaching his Bible school students "that God still has a covenant with the Jews and the land of Israel is their inheritance." (11)

From our study on Day 23, we see that the Lord is requiring a choice. Who will bless "one of the least of these brothers of mine"? (Matthew 25:40) Will we be like the older brother in the story of the Prodigal Son, who enjoyed all his father's riches but refused to accept the return of his lost brother? Or, will we stand with the father, eagerly watching the road for a sign of his return?

The great London preacher and evangelist of the 1800s, Charles Haddon Spurgeon, had this to say on this issue 100 years before the birth of the state of Israel:

"I think we do not attach enough importance to the restoration of the Jews... But certainly, if there is anything promised in the Bible it is this...The day shall yet come when the Jews, who were the first apostles to the Gentiles, the first missionaries to us who were afar off, shall be gathered in again.

"Until that shall be, the fullness of the church's glory can never come. Matchless benefits to the world are bound up with the restoration of Israel, their gathering shall be as life from the dead."

As the nations have a responsibility to decide how they will treat Israel, so does the Body of Christ, His own Bride, bought with His blood. Each church fellowship must decide! Each pastor! Each family! Each individual! "Who is on the Lord's side?" (Exodus: 32:26 KJV)

.____

Dear Lord, You have been showing us through Your Word how important Israel was and is to You. We do not want to injure the "apple of (Your) eye." We choose to stand with You. We desire to be on Your side, as You show the Church Your heart and Your purposes toward this nation You call "My inheritance."

DAY 25 MAY WE BE LIKE RUTH!

"For Zion's sake I will not keep silent, for Jerusalem's sake I will not remain quiet, till her righteousness shines out like the dawn, her salvation like a blazing torch." (Isaiah 62: 1)

The book of Ruth is not only a wonderful heart-warming story, it is also a prophetic picture with application for today. We could say that the elderly widow, Naomi, returning to Israel is a type of the Jewish people coming "home" from the nations. The two Gentile daughters-in-law, Orpah and Ruth, represent the two diametrically opposite attitudes in the Church.

Orpah decides to leave Naomi and return to her Gentile people to pursue her own life, security and happiness. An extreme example of how this attitude has played out in church history would be an incident in WWII Germany when trainloads of Jews, packed into cattle cars and crying out for help, passed close to a church's window. The church's reaction was to sing louder to drown out their cries. In Matthew 25:45 Jesus comments that what we fail to do for the least of His brethren is what we refuse to do for Him. Doing nothing is not acceptable to Him.

Ruth, on the other hand, decides to throw in her lot with Naomi, to serve and protect her. Her reward is great – even to becoming the great-grandmother of David and a Gentile in the bloodline of Jesus, the Messiah. Ruth represents the part of the Church that is willing to go out of its way to bless the Jewish people and to help them fulfill their divine call to return to their land and to their God.

How do we stand with the Lord and His purposes for Israel today?

First, become informed. There are many excellent resources now available.

Second, counter biased news with the Scriptural point of view. Study the Prophets in the Old Testament. As someone has said, the Lord did not have a "brain scrub" between the Old and New Testament. He is the same! He speaks of judgment in the New as well as the Old. As we have seen, He speaks of mercy throughout both the Old and the New.

Third, assure Jewish friends and neighbors that we, Christians, are standing with them and with Israel in these days when hatred toward Jews is again rising sharply.

Fourth, support Christian groups assisting the Jews to make aliyah and those blessing them once they arrive in the land, by prayer, volunteering, or finances.

Fifth, and of greatest importance, pray for the fulfillment of the Lord's plan in the whole situation in the Middle East. I like to pray the Scriptures, many of which are scattered through this devotional. Then I know I'm not putting my "spin," expectations or timetable on what the Lord will do. I'm just affirming that what He says in His Word He will do. So I take different Scriptures that the Lord seems to highlight, and I proclaim them out loud. There is great power released when we speak God's Word out into the atmosphere!

Lord, may we be those who cry out to You "for Zion's sake" until You fulfill all that You have said You would do. May we be like Ruth and be willing to serve this people even as the world becomes increasingly hostile to them.

DAY 26 DAYS OF GRACE

"As long as it is day, we must do **the work** of him (the Father) who sent me (Jesus.) Night is coming, when no one can work." (John 9:4)

We are living in days of grace! Even as we see the storm clouds gather, we are aware of the tremendous opportunities the Lord is providing for the spread of His Kingdom – to reach unreached peoples and closed-door nations.

We see the Lord intentionally stirring His Bride, the Church, to new life and wooing us closer to His side through a deeper intimacy with Him.

Then there is "the work" we have been discussing – the Lord drawing His Jewish people home to their land to experience His restoration.

In Acts 3:21, Peter makes a significant declaration to the Jews who assemble after the healing of the cripple at the gate of the temple.

"He (Jesus) must remain in heaven until the time comes for God to **restore everything**, as He promised long ago through His holy prophets."

He now is in that process of the "restoration of all things"! (NKJV for "restore everything") Yet there is a dark time coming for Israel and all nations. Jesus speaks of it in Matthew 24, Luke 21 and Mark 13. He warns us to be alert and watchful.

Let us reflect on Jeremiah 16:16. "'But now I will send for many fishermen,' declares the Lord, 'and they will catch them. After that I will send for many hunters, and they will hunt them down on every mountain and hill and from the crevices of the rocks.'"

As Jesus referred to His disciples as "fishers of men," (Mark 1:17) many involved with aliyah interpret this Scripture to mean that we are also fishermen helping the Jews return home safely where they will meet their Messiah. Sadly, there will also be a day soon

when we will not be allowed into certain nations, and the "hunters" will suddenly descend upon the Jewish people. This is the compelling reason for the urgency we feel to work quickly to help them home "while it is day." (John 9:4 NKJV)

All this is preparation for the Lord's return. So in the last four days of our study together let us focus our thoughts on **His glorious coming**. This joyful expectancy will sustain and encourage us "so that when the day of evil comes, (we) may be able to stand (our) ground." (Ephesians 6:13)

The Lord Jesus Himself urges, "Now when these things (worldwide troubles) begin to happen, look up and lift up your heads, because your redemption draws near." (Luke 21:28 NKJV)

Father, thank You that when everything in Your Word is fulfilled, You will send our Lord Jesus back to this earth. Help us to work diligently in these days of grace that You are giving us before the difficult times come. Then, help us to stand fast in the coming days of darkness, looking to You, "the author and finisher of our faith." (Hebrews 12:2 NKJV)

DAY 27 THAT GREAT DAY

"They will see the Son of Man coming on the clouds of the sky, with power and great glory." (Matthew 24:30)

"For the Lord himself will come down from heaven, with a loud command, with the voice of the archangel, and with the trumpet call of God." (I Thessalonians 4:16)

Many of us in the Church are very familiar with these glorious Scriptures in the New Testament. We are those who "have longed for his appearing" (II Timothy 4:8) and who are "looking for and hastening the coming of the day of God." (II Peter 3:12 NKJV)

Let us take time to ponder and prayerfully consider some of the Old Testament Scriptures that not only tell of His return but also describe how it will affect His people, Israel. Let us also note that the Lord Jesus returns to Zion (Jerusalem), not to London, New York, or Tokyo.

"When the Lord returns to Zion, they (Israelis) will see it with their own eyes." "Therefore my people will know my name; ...in that day they will know that it is I who foretold it.

Yes, it is I." (Isaiah 52:8 & 6)

"Then the Lord will go out and fight against those nations, (coming against Jerusalem)...
On that day his feet will stand on the Mount of Olives, east of Jerusalem,
and the Mount of Olives will be split in two...forming a great valley.
... You (Israelis) will flee by my mountain valley, (way of escape from their enemies)
Then the Lord my God will come, and all the holy ones with him." (Zechariah 14:3-5)

"For the Lord will rebuild Zion and appear in his glory!" (Psalm 102:16)

"the Lord will be your everlasting light, and your days of sorrow will end.
Then will all your people (Jews) be righteous and they will possess the land forever.
They are ... the work of my hands,
For the display of my splendor." (Isaiah 60:20 & 21)

How will His return affect Israel? Look at what we've just read:

They will know His Name.

They will know He foretold His coming.

He will provide a way of escape for them as He stands on the Mount of Olives.

He will be their everlasting light.

The days of their sorrow will end.

They'll all be righteous (forgiven) – for the sake of His Glory or splendor.

They will possess the land forever!

Lord Jesus, we know that Your return will be the climax of history for **Your Church.**Thank You that it will also be the culmination for **Your people, Israel.** Show us how to hasten **that great day!**

DAY 28 MORE PROMISES TO BE FULFILLED

"As you have been an object of cursing among the nations, O Judah and Israel, so will I save you, and you will be a blessing." (Zechariah 8:13)

"I will give them (Israel) praise and honor in every land where they were put to shame." (Zephaniah 3:19)

There are many wonderful promises made to Israel that we in the Church have adopted for ourselves down through the ages. These passages have been incredibly life-giving sources of strength to us in our walk with the Lord.

However, some of these same Scriptures fit even better when applied literally to Israel at the end of the age and at the time when the Lord Jesus sets up His visible Kingdom here on the earth. Let us ponder and apprehend what the following Scriptures declare that He has planned for His people Israel!

"They will sparkle in his land like jewels in a crown." (Zechariah 9:16)

"You (Israel) will be a crown of splendor... a royal diadem in the hand of God. No longer will they call you Deserted,
Or name your land Desolate.
But you will be called Hephzibah, (My delight is in her)
and your land Beulah; (married)
for the Lord will take delight in you,
...so will your God rejoice over you." (Isaiah 62:3-5)

"for the Lord Almighty will reign on Mount Zion and in Jerusalem, and before its (Jerusalem's) elders, gloriously." (Isaiah 24:23)

"I will grant salvation to Zion, my splendor to Israel." (Isaiah 46:13)

"They will be called the Holy People,

The Redeemed of the Lord;" (Isaiah 62:12)

We, the Gentile Church, will also be called by these names and partake in this glory as we join together with our Jewish brothers and sisters – Jew and Gentile – "the one new man." (Ephesians 2:15) It is probably very evident by now that many in the Church have neglected to give Israel her due place. We have failed to recognize that these verses are direct promises to the Jewish people. May we stand together in faith that the day is coming when Jew and Gentile will be that "one new man."

O Lord, great is your faithfulness! We rejoice in what is coming for both the Church and Israel as we make this proclamation of future victory:

"Sing, O Daughter of Zion; shout aloud, O Israel!

Be glad and rejoice with all your heart,
O Daughter of Jerusalem!
The Lord has taken away your punishment,
he has turned back your enemy.
The Lord, the King of Israel, is with you;
never again will you fear any harm.
On that day they will say to Jerusalem,
'Do not fear, O Zion;
do not let your hands hang limp.(in fear)
The Lord your God is with you,
he is mighty to save.'" (Zephaniah 3:14-17)

DAY 29 JERUSALEM, CITY OF THE GREAT KING

"The Lord... will again choose Jerusalem." (Zechariah 2:12)

There are many amazing words written about the destiny of **Jerusalem**. As we have seen in the last few devotions, it is often helpful to isolate certain Scriptures on a specific theme or word, in order to see more clearly their importance. So without a lot of commentary, I set out what the Word says about Jerusalem, the city that Jesus Himself called "the city of the great King." (Matthew 5:35) As we read and consider them, let us lift up these Scriptures as prayers and proclamations to the Lord.

```
"Afterward you will be called the City of Righteousness, The Faithful City." (Isaiah 1:26)
```

```
"...your eyes will see Jerusalem, a peaceful abode,
a tent that will not be moved;
...There (in Jerusalem) the Lord will be our Mighty One." (Isaiah 33:20 & 21)
```

"...all who despise you will bow down at your feet and will call you the City of the Lord, Zion of the Holy One of Israel.

...Although you have been forsaken and hated, ...I will make you the everlasting pride and the joy of all generations." (Isaiah 60:14 & 15)

"At that time they will call Jerusalem **The Throne of the Lord**, and all nations will gather in Jerusalem to honor the name of the Lord." (Jeremiah 3:17)

"'Then this city will bring me renown, joy, praise and honor before all the nations on earth that hear of all the good things I do for it; and they (the nations) will be in awe and will tremble at the abundant prosperity and peace I provide for it." (Jeremiah 33:9)

"And the name of the city from that time on will be: **The Lord is THERE**." (Ezekiel 48:35)

"This is what the Lord Almighty says:
'I am very jealous for Zion;
I am burning with jealousy for her.'"
..."I will return to Zion and dwell in Jerusalem.
Then Jerusalem will be called the City of Truth,
and the mountain of the Lord Almighty
will be called the Holy Mountain." (Zechariah 8:2&3)

Lord Almighty, how wondrous is Your plan for this city that You have chosen as **Your** "resting place for ever and ever"...where **You** "will sit enthroned." (Psalm 132:13 &14) May Your coming, visible Kingdom soon be a reality on this wartorn earth! Until then we will keep praying:

"For Zion's sake I will not keep silent, for Jerusalem's sake I will not remain quiet, till her righteousness shines out like the dawn, her salvation like a blazing torch." (Isaiah 62:1)

DAY 30 GOD WILL GLORIFY HIS GREAT NAME

"I will make known my holy name among my people Israel.

I will no longer let my holy name be profaned,
and the nations will know that I the Lord am the Holy One in Israel.
...I will display my glory among the nations." (Ezekiel 39:7& 21)

On this, our last day together, let us again soak in the Word – in Scriptures that lift us beyond ourselves to catch a vision of His coming Glory! Let us proclaim them, declaring what the Lord will bring to pass. And may these glorious passages from the Word of God minister Life to you now and until He returns!

"Your eyes will see the king in his beauty." (Isaiah 33:17)

"And the glory of the Lord will be revealed, and all mankind together will see it. For the mouth of the Lord has spoken." (Isaiah 40:5)

"They raise their voices, they shout for joy; from the west they acclaim the Lord's majesty. Therefore in the east give glory to the Lord; exalt the name of the Lord, the God of Israel, in the islands of the sea." (Isaiah 24:14 & 15)

What a picture of worldwide rejoicing! And it concludes in verse 16:

"From the ends of the earth we hear singing: Glory to the Righteous One."

Let us join this worldwide throng in glorifying **The "King of Kings and Lord of Lords."** (Revelation 19:16)

Let us sing "the song of Moses, the servant of God, and the song of the Lamb:

"Great and marvelous are your deeds,
Lord God Almighty.

Just and true are your ways,
King of the ages.
Who will not fear you, O Lord,
and bring glory to your name?
For you alone are holy.
All nations will come
and worship before you,
for your righteous acts have been revealed." (Revelation 15:3 & 4)

[&]quot;Amen. Come, Lord Jesus." (Revelation 22:20)